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Federal M ne Safety and Heal th Revi ew Conmm ssi on
O fice of Adm nistrative Law Judges

SECRETARY OF LABOR, ClVIL PENALTY PRCCEEDI NG
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MBHA) , Docket No. KENT 83-131
PETI TI ONER A.C. No. 15-11065-03502
V.
No. 10 M ne

SHAMROCK COAL COVPANY, | NC.,
RESPONDENT

DECI SI ON

Appear ances: Thomas A. Groons, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor
U S. Departnment of Labor, Nashville, Tennessee,
for Petitioner;

Neville Smith, Esq., Smth & Emons, Manchester,
Kent ucky, for Respondent.

Bef or e: Judge Steffey

A hearing in the above-entitled proceeding was held on My
1, 1984, in Barbourville, Kentucky, pursuant to section 105(d),
30 U.S.C [O815(d), of the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of
1977. At the conclusion of presentation of evidence, counsel for
the parties made sunmations and | rendered a bench decision, the
substance of which is set forth bel ow.

The proposal for assessnment of civil penalty filed in Docket
No. KENT 83-131 seeks to have a penalty assessed for an all eged
violation of 30 CF. R [48.5(d). The issues in a civil penalty
case are whether a violation occurred and, if so, what civil
penalty shoul d be assessed, based on the six criteria set forth
in section 110(i) of the Act. The wi tnesses' testinony and the
exhibits in this proceedi ng support the follow ng findings of
fact:

1. Inspector Joe K. Burke went to the No. 10 M ne of
Shanr ock Coal Conpany on March 17, 1982. He arrived at the nine
about 6:00 a.m The m ners went underground shortly after the
i nspector arrived, but the mantrip was so crowded that the
i nspector could not go underground at that time. It was about
8:05 a.m before the inspector obtained a nmeans of transportation
i nto the underground ni ne

2. The inspector proceeded to the 001 Section where mning
was in progress. He noticed that a miner who was installing a
safety jack was wearing a new hat, a new belt, and new rubber
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boots, and the inspector concluded that he was a new mner. He
talked to the miner who confirnmed the inspector's conclusion that
he was working his first day in the No. 10 Mne or any other coa
m ne. The miner's nane was Darrell Brock and he explained to the
i nspector that he had received 48 hours of new mner training at
t he Hazard, Kentucky, Vocational School, but he stated that he
had not been given any training at the No. 10 M ne that day.
Specifically, he had not been given any training in roof control
or training as to entering and |l eaving the mine or in the mne
escapeway Ssystem

3. Shortly after the inspector had asked the |ast of the
above- descri bed questions about Brock's training, the electrica
power for the entire section suddenly went off so that all mners
had to be withdrawn. As a result of the power failure, the
i nspector cane out of the m ne about noon. On the surface, he
talked to the mne foreman, Stanley Couch, who verified Brock's
statenments to the effect that no specific training had been given
to Brock before he went underground.

4. On the basis of the informati on sunmari zed above,
I nspector Burke issued Citation No. 1112116 which all eged a
viol ation of section 48.5(d) of the regulations. The "condition
or practice" set forth in the citation reads as foll ows:

A newy hired i nexperienced m ner has commenced work at
this mne on the 001 Section of the mne and the m ner
(Darrell Brock) is assigned duties as a roof bolt
machi ne hel per and the m ner conmenced work on this
day. The m ner has not been trained in the provisions
of Part 48.6(b) and Part 48.7.

Section 48.5(d), the section alleged to have been vi ol at ed,
provi des as foll ows:

Upon proof by an operator that a newly enpl oyed m ner
has received the courses and hours of instruction set
forth in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section within
12 months preceding initial enploynment at a mne, such
m ner need not repeat the training, but the operator
shall give and the m ner shall receive and conplete the
instruction and programof training set forth in
par agraph (b) of [048.6 (Training of newy enployed
experienced mners), and 048.7 (New task training of
m ners), if applicable, before commrenci ng work.

5. Exhibits 2 and 3 show that Brock received 48 hours of
training at the Hazard Vocational School in conpliance with the
State of Kentucky's requirenents under which a person is given 48
hours of training, instead of the 40 hours of training



~1494

requi red by section 115(a) of the Act and by 30 C.F. R [48.5(a).
Exhibit 3 is a certification indicating that Brock on March 18,
1982, the day after the citation was issued, was given training
in such subjects as "Introduction to Wrk Environnent, Hazard
Recognition, H & S Aspects of Tasks Assigned, Statutory Rights of
M ners, Self-Rescue & Respiratory Devices, Transport &

Conmmuni cati on Systens, Roof/Gound Control & Ventilation

El ectrical Hazards, First Aid, Mne Gases, and Prevention of
Accidents.” That certification is signed by Ikie Whitaker who is
an MSHA- approved instructor at Shanrock Coal Conpany's m nes.

6. CGordon Couch was a witness for Shanrock Coal Conpany. He
is the safety director at Shanrock's mnes and he testified that,
as far as he was concerned, Darrell Brock, the new mner, was
given the instruction or training required by section 48.5(d). He
expl ai ned that he believes the regul ati ons are anbi guous in
directing the sequence in which training nust be given before
work tasks are assigned. He said that it was not only the
practice in March 1982, but is still the practice at the Shanrock
No. 10 Mne, for a new mner to be trained on the job, so to
speak, by the various people who are in charge of a given area of
responsibility. For exanple, as to Exhibit 3 described above,
Couch stated that the first aspect of the training given to
Darrell Brock, that is, "Introduction to Wrk Environnment”, would
have been done by the section foreman as they went underground,
because the section foreman at that tinme would have tried to
assure that the experienced nmners did not frighten the new m ner
with erroneous allegations made in jest and the section foreman
woul d have given correct information concerning the hazards which
Brock woul d encount er under ground.

7. CGordon Couch explained further that the health and safety
aspects of the task assigned to Brock woul d have been expl ai ned
by the section foreman on the section. Couch said that training
with respect to the specific task to which Brock was to be
assigned, that is, the position of helper to the roof-bolting
machi ne operator, would have been given by the roof-bolting
machi ne operator hinself. Couch additionally stated that a
category of training, such as "Electrical Hazards", would have
been given by the mne electrician. Couch also testified that
such subjects as "Statutory R ghts of Mners, First Aid, Mne
Gases, and Prevention of Accidents”, would have been covered in
Brock's training by the Hazard Vocational School, and that al
VWi t aker woul d have had to do before certifying that Brock had
been trained in those subjects would have been to have asked
Brock if he had been trained in those matters. If Brock had
answered Witaker's questions in the affirmative, those answers
woul d have enabl ed Wiitaker to certify on Exhibit 3 (or MSHA Form
5000-23) that Brock had received training in those areas.
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| believe that the findings set forth above are the essenti al
facts which the parties have presented. By way of argunent,
counsel for the Secretary of Labor stated that he believed that
Shanr ock was conducting its training of newmners in an entirely
erroneous fashi on because section 48.6(a) specifically refers to
the fact that the programof instruction prescribed by that
section has to be given before a new m ner (FOOTNOTE 1) has been
assigned to specific work duties. The Secretary's counse
bel i eved that the regulations are so clear in specifying how
training will be given that Shanrock operated in a flagrant
manner in claimng that newm ner training can be given at random
by assorted supervisors and other persons trained in a given
position because that procedure fails to assure that the types of
training described in the regulations and in Shanrock's training
program (Exh. 4) are provided

Counsel for Shanrock Coal Conpany responded to the
Secretary's argunments by contending that there is no specific
sequence set out in the regulations as to the order of training
versus the assignment of working tasks. Shanrock's counse
stressed the provisions of section 48.7(e) which states that "Al
trai ni ng and supervi sed practice and operation required by this
section shall be given by a qualified trainer, or a supervisor
experienced in the assigned tasks, or other person experienced in
t he assigned tasks."

The Secretary's counsel answered Shanrock's argunent by
enphasi zing that while section 48.7(e) permts a
non- MSHA- approved instructor to give training in the performnce
of a newy assigned task, section 48.6(a), which is also part of
the programof instruction to be given to newy enpl oyed mners,
clearly provides that "A newy enpl oyed experienced m ner shal
recei ve and conplete training in the programof instruction
prescribed in this section before such nmner is assigned to work
duties.”

It seenms to ne that the Secretary's counsel presented a
| ogi cal argunent which is supported by the evidence and by the
provi sions of the regulations. The section which is alleged to
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have been violated is section 48.5(d) which has been quoted in

Fi nding No. 4 above. If one exam nes section 48.5(d)'s reference
to section 48.6, he finds that subparagraph (a) of that section
states that the program of instruction prescribed for a new m ner
is to be completed before such mner is assigned to work duties.
Thereafter, subparagraph (b) lists the instruction which is
required to be given.

I can synpathize with the safety director's problens in
readi ng regulations. | amrequired to read themfrequently in
order to interpret themand | run into anbiguities nyself, but I
think that it is clear from subparagraph (a) that the types of
training described in section 48.6 nust be given before the mner
is assigned to work duties. It is true, as the safety director
poi nted out, that an operator could have a section forenman
explain to a new miner the "work environnent”, referred to in
section 48.6(b)(1), while they were going into the mne, and that
could be done before a person has been assigned to work on a
roof -bolting machi ne or el sewhere in the mne

The second provision to be considered is subparagraph
48. 6(b) (2) which states that "The course shall include the
mandat ory health and safety standards pertinent to the tasks to
be assigned.” It is true, as the safety director clainmed, that a
supervi sor could explain to a new m ner underground, before he
starts doi ng assigned tasks, what health and safety standards are
associ ated with such tasks.

Subpar agraph 48.6(b)(3) refers to "Authority and
responsibility of supervisors and miners' representatives,” and
t hat subsection states that "The course shall include a review
and description of the Iine of authority of supervisors and
m ners' representatives and the responsibilities of such
supervisors and mners' representatives; and an introduction to
the operator's rules and the procedures for reporting hazards."
It is conceivable that a section foreman would have tinme to do
all of the instructing nmentioned in the subparagraph |I have just
quoted, but it is extremely unlikely that such a course would be
gi ven on a working section. The section foreman can hardly stop
and explain to a new miner all the rights of mners and mners
representatives, and explain the operator's rules for reporting
hazards because he has a whole section to run, and | do not
bel i eve that those things would be expl ai ned underground before a
new mner is assigned to work duties.

The next part of the training programis described in
subpar agraph 48. 6(b) (4) which has the caption "Entering and
| eaving the mne; transportation; conmunications" and that
subsection states that:
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The course shall include instruction in the procedures in effect
for entering and | eaving the mne; the check-in and check- out
systemin effect at the mne; and the procedures for riding on
and in mne conveyances; the controls in effect for the
transportation of mners and materials; and the use of the nine
conmuni cati on systens, warning signals, and directional signs.

Section 48.6(a) requires that all the instruction described above
is to be given before any tasks have been assigned. | doubt that
such instructions would be gi ven underground on the worKking
section before new mners are assigned to work duties.

Subpar agraph 48.6(b) (5) provides that:

The course shall include a review of the m ne map; the
escapeway system the escape, firefighting, and
energency evacuation plans in effect at the mne; the

| ocation of abandoned areas; and where applicable,

nmet hods of barricading and the | ocations of barricading
materials. The program of instruction for escapeways
and emergency evacuation plans approved by the District
Manager shall be used for this course.

Al of the above-described instruction is required to be given
before work duties are assigned. Again, it is conceivable that
such detailed instructions could be given by a section foreman
under ground before work duties are assigned, but there is no
evidence in this proceeding to show that the section foreman in
Shanrock's No. 10 M ne provided the detailed instructions
prescribed by subsection 48.6(b)(5).

Subpar agraph 48.6(b)(6) provides that:

The course shall include an introduction to and
instruction on the roof or ground control plan in
effect at the mne and procedures for roof and rib or
ground control; and an introduction to and instruction
on the ventilation plan in effect at the mne and the
procedures for maintaining and controlling ventilation

VWil e the roof-bolting machi ne operator or section foreman could
undoubt edly explain the roof-control plan before assigning a new
mner his work duties, | doubt that the section foreman would

al so explain the ventilation plan before assigning work duties.

Fi nal 'y, subparagraph 48.6(b)(7) provides for "Hazard
recogni tion” and states that "The course shall include the
recogni ti on and avoi dance of hazards present in the nine
particul arly any
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hazards rel ated to expl osives where expl osives are used or stored
at the mine." A new nminer could be trained in hazard recognition
underground. Since the No. 10 M ne uses a continuous-m ni ng

machi ne, there probably are no expl osi ves stored underground.
Nevert hel ess, the foregoing review of section 48.6 in detai
causes ne to conclude that the courses prescribed by that section
shoul d be given before a new mner is taken underground and it is
certain that section 48.6(a) requires that the course has to be
provi ded before any work duties are assigned to a new m ner.

It should be noted that certain aspects of the evidence cast
consi der abl e doubt on the question of whether Shanrock's section
foremen and ot her personnel were providing new mners with the
kind of instruction required by section 48.6 before work duties
are assigned. The new m ner, Brock, and the other mners had gone
into the mine to work about 7:00 a.m so that they had been
underground for about 3 hours and 45 m nutes before the inspector
observed Brock setting a safety jack. At that tinme the
roof -bol ti ng machi ne operator was drilling a hole in the roof. He
was not just standing there instructing the new mner in the
technique of installing safety jacks. There was every indication
that the inspector was observing a working section and that
Darrell Brock was routinely performng the duties of a helper to
the operator of the roof-bolting machine. The m ne was ot herwi se
engaged in mning coal and the only reason that Brock went out of
the mne at that tinme, so far as the record shows, is that the
electricity went off and all miners had to be w thdrawn unti
power was restored. Consequently, the questions which the
i nspector mght have asked the roof-bolting machi ne operator
about Brock's newmner training were never asked.

O her aspects of the evidence which cause nme to doubt that
Shanrock was properly performng newmner training is that the
m ne foreman, when asked whether Brock had been given the
required training, said that he had not. If the mne foreman knew
that the variegated training discussed above was supposed to be
provi ded by the section forenman, the roof-bolting machine
operator, the chief electrician, etc., as explained by Gordon
Couch, surely the m ne foreman woul d have expl ai ned t hose
procedures to the inspector, but he failed to do so.

The evidence, considered in its entirety, causes me to
conclude that if Shanrock did intend to train Darrell Brock in
all of the subjects which are required by section 48.6, that the
conpany is failing to give the training in the manner required by
that section, that is, before work duties are assigned.
Additionally, | believe that Shanrock's safety director had
failed to instruct his supervisors in the kind of training which
they are required to give new mners. The |legislative history in
Senate Report No. 181, 95th Congress, 1st Session, at page 49,
refers to the lack of training provided for the mners who were
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working in the Scotia mne at the tinme it exploded. It was the
fact that mners were not being thoroughly trained that caused
Congress to insert section 115 into the Act. While it is certain
that Darrell Brock had received a lot nore training than the
Scotia mners had, | fear that the use of underground personne
to provide training, as described by Shanrock's safety director
in this proceeding, amobunts to a failure to carry out the intent
of Congress and the requirenents expressed in section 48.5(d).
Therefore, |I find that a violation of section 48.5(d) occurred.

Section 110(i) of the Act requires consideration of six
criteria in assessing civil penalties. There was introduced as
Exhi bit 6, for the purpose of explaining the criterion of the
size of the operator's business, one of the proposed assessnent
sheets submitted in Docket No. KENT 83-131, and that shows that
the No. 10 M ne produces approxi mately 500,000 tons of coal per
year. Exhibit 6 also shows the controlling conpany's production
to be over 13,000,000 tons annually. Counsel for Shanrock stated
that the aforesaid figure may or may not be the production of Sun
Q| Conpany and further stated that he believes Shanrock's annua
production fromall of its mnes was in the nei ghborhood of
2,500, 000 tons per year. Those production figures support a
finding that Shanrock is a |arge operator, and to the extent that
the penalty is determ ned under the criterion of the size of the
operator's business, it should be in an upper range of magnitude.

The second criterion is whether the paynment of penalties
woul d cause the operator to discontinue in business. No specific
i nformati on was submitted in connection with the operator's
financial condition. The Conm ssion held in Sellersburg Stone
Co., 5 FMBHRC 287 (1983), that if an operator fails to produce
facts about its financial condition, the judge may presune that
payment of penalties would not cause the operator to discontinue
i n business.

The third criterion is the history of the operator's
previous violations. There was introduced as Exhibit 5 a sheet
fromthe proposed assessnent and that shows that Shamrock had 68
previ ous viol ations over an applicable 24-nonth period during 132
i nspection days. If those figures are used in accordance with the
provi sions of MSHA's assessnment formula set forth in 30 CF.R 0O
100.3, the result would be to assign four penalty points under
t he assessnment formula which would indicate a noderate history of
previous violations. Therefore, no portion of the penalty will be
assigned under the criterion of history of previous violations
because of the operator's relatively favorable history.

There was a stipulation by the parties that the operator
denonstrated a good-faith effort to achi eve rapid conpliance
after the citation was issued. It has been ny practice to
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increase a penalty only if there is a showing of a lack of effort
to achi eve conpliance, and to decrease a penalty only if there is
evi dence indicating sone outstanding effort to achieve
conpliance. In this case, the conpliance was normal. Therefore,
the penalty shoul d neither be increased nor decreased under that
criterion.

The remaining two criteria are gravity and negligence. They
are the criteria which normally cause a penalty to be high if
either criterion is shown to exist in any serious degree. Counse
for the Secretary enphasi zed that Shanrock had no basis for
proceeding as it did and asserted that there was a rather high
degree of negligence involved, but when | discussed above the
provisions in section 48.6(b) prescribing the training that is
required before a new task is assigned, | found that it would
have been within the real mof possibility for an operator to give
the required new nminer instruction underground, but the
preponderance of the evidence in this proceeding did not show
that the training had been given.

In such circunstances, the evidence does not support a
finding of gross negligence. Shanrock contested the citation here
i nvol ved because it believed that its method of training new
mners was in conpliance with the regul ati ons. Therefore,
cannot conclude that it did anything other than stand by the
procedure which its safety director believed was a proper way to
provide training to new mners. Nevertheless, at |east a | ow
degree of negligence was associated with the viol ation because
the evidence indicates that the safety director had not properly
instructed the mne foreman and ot her personnel in the training
nmet hods which he expected themto follow in connection with new
m ners.

The criterion of gravity remains to be considered. | believe
that the violation was serious because Darrell Brock was not
awar e of having received any training during his first day of
enpl oyment, based on the inspector's testinony. O course, as
counsel for Shanrock pointed out, only the inspector's version of
his conversation with Brock was introduced at the hearing because
Brock did not appear as a witness. It is possible that Brock, in
retrospect, mght say that the section foreman did explain
various safety matters to hi munderground, but the available
evi dence shows that Brock was not aware of having received any
specific training when questioned by the inspector. There were
strong indications that Brock had worked as a hel per for the
roof -bolti ng machi ne operator for quite a while before being
brought out of the mine after the mne's electrical power was
unexpectedly cut off. When the inspector first saw Brock, he was
setting a safety jack and appeared to be working as part of a
full production crew with no particul ar enphasis being given to
the training of a new mner. The possibility that Brock could
have been injured because of a |ack of the kind of training which
the regul ations require causes nme to conclude that the violation
was seri ous.
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The di scussion of the six criteria above shows that Shanrock
operates a | arge business, that paynent of penalties will not
cause Shanrock to discontinue in business, that Shanrock
denonstrated a good-faith effort to achi eve conpliance after the
citation was witten, that Shanrock has a favorable history of
previous violations, that the violation was serious, and that the
vi ol ati on was associated with a | ow degree of negligence. In such
circunstances, a civil penalty of $500 is warranted.

VWHEREFORE, it is ordered:

Shanr ock Coal Conpany, within 30 days fromthe date of this
deci sion, shall pay a civil penalty of $500.00 for the violation
of section 48.5(d) alleged in Ctation No. 1112116 dated March
17, 1982.

Richard C Steffey
Admi ni strative Law Judge

AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAARAAAAAAAAAAA
~FOOTNOTE_ONE

1 Section 48.2(b) defines Brock as an "experienced mner"
because he had received 48 hours of MSHA-approved training from
t he Hazard Vocational School within 12 nonths prior to the tine
he was hired by Shanrock, but Brock was also a "newly enpl oyed
experienced mner" within the neaning of section 48.6 and was
therefore required to be given "the programof instruction”
described in that section. Consequently, ny reference to Brock as
a "newnner" is asinplified termwhich at all times should
technically be considered the equival ent of saying that Brock was
a "newy enpl oyed experienced mner" (Tr. 102-103).



